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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
EASTERN DIVISION

MICHAEL D. JACKSON,
Petitioner,
Civ. No. 2:15-cv-1122
V. Crim. No. 2:09-cr-00021(1)
Judge Gregory L. Frost
UNITED STATESOF AMERICA,
Respondent.

OPINION AND ORDER

Petitioner, a federal prisoner, brings thigion to vacate, setids or correct sentence
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255. Thisitter is befor¢ghe Court on théotion toVacate under 28
U.S.C. 2255ECF No. 115), RespondenfResponse in OppositiditCF No. 122), Petitioner’s
Reply to Response to MotitmVacate under 28 U.S.C. 2285CF No. 124), and the exhibits of
the parties. For the reasons that follow, Mhation to Vacate under 28.S.C. 2255ECF No.
115) isDISMISSED.

Petitioner’s request for a@videntiary hearing iPENIED.

Procedural History

On June 26, 2009, Petitioner was convictedhisrplea of guilty, entered pursuant to the
Plea AgreemenfECF No. 52), to possessing with inteatdistribute more than five grams of
cocaine base in violation @fL U.S.C. 88841(a)(1), (b)(1)(B).

The presentencing report provitia sentencing range of 188-235
months due to Jackson's statusaasareer offender. The district
court agreed to delay Jacksosentencing in anticipation that

Congress would pass legislatiordueing the penalties associated
with the crack cocaine laws. . . .

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/ohio/ohsdce/2:2015cv01122/182043/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/ohio/ohsdce/2:2015cv01122/182043/2/
https://dockets.justia.com/

After waiting more than a year aft@éackson entered his guilty plea
in June 2009, the district coutécided it could wait no longer and
sentenced Jackson on July 16, 2010:

[W]e waited and waited and waited to see if
Congress would change the guidelines, or the
statutes, with regard to crack versus powder
cocaine. My information now indicates that it's a
dead issue in Congress and that it's not going to
change, at least in the feeeable future. . .. | was
trying to give you the bengfof any change in the
law that might occur, and doesn't appear that it's
going to. For that, I'm sorry. . . .

Sentencing Trat 16 [(ECF No. 84, Pat#&# 263)]. The district
court did not apply the “careaffender” guideline sentence and
sentenced Jackson to 150 montiikis sentence was below the
advisory guideline range for a ear offender and within the old
advisory guideline range for cradocaine violations that would
have otherwise applied to Jackson if he were not a career offender.
Jackson filed a timely noticef appeal on July 26, 2010. On
August 3, 2010, less than three weeliter Jackson was sentenced,
the Fair Sentencing Act was signatb law and the ratio for crack
versus powder cocaine was redudeam 100:1 to 18:1.FN1 The
Sentencing Commission promulgdtemergency amendments to
the sentencing guidelines, which became effective immediately,
and other amendments were later promulgated that made the
reduced guideline ranges for crack cocaine permanent and
retroactive on November 1, 201%ee U.S.S.G.App. C-Vol. I,
Amend. 750 (effective Nov. 1, 2011) and Amend. 759 (making
Amend. 750 retroactiveffective Nov. 1, 2011).

FN1: The Fair Sentencing Act, enacted on August 3, 2010,
increased the amount of crack cocaine necessary to trigger
mandatory minimum sentences. Section 8 of the Fair
Sentencing Act directs theUnited States Sentencing
Commission to:

(1) promulgate the guidels, policy statements, or
amendments provided for in this Act as soon as
practicable, and in any evienot later than 90 days
after the enactment of this Act, in accordance with
the procedure set forth in section 21(a) of the
Sentencing Act of 198728 U.S.C. 8§ 994 note), as
though the authority under that act had not expired;
and (2) pursuant to ¢h emergency authority



provided under paragraph (1), make such
conforming amendments to the Federal sentencing
guidelines as the Commission determines necessary
to achieve consistencywith other guideline
provisions and applicable law.

124 Stat. 2372, 2374 (2010).

In accordance with the above directive, the Sentencing
Commission issued an emergency amendment to the United States
Sentencing Guidelines, effectiovember 1, 2010, that amended

§ 2D1.1(c)'s drug quantity table aretluced the base offense level
for various quantities of crackocaine. Temporary Emergency
Amendment to Sentencing Guidds, 75 Fed.Reg. 66, 188 (Oct.
27, 2010). After Jackson filed this appeal, the United States
Sentencing Commission unaroosly voted to make this
amendment, now designated Amendment 750 in Appendix C of
the United States Sentencing Guidelines, retroactive. U.S.S.G.App.
C, Amend. 759. The effective dat& Amendments 750 and 759 is
November 1, 2011.

United States v. Jackspf78 F.3d 442, 443-44 {6Cir. 2012). On May 8, 2012, the United
States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuitnended the case to this Court for re-sentencing
“to give the district court the oppaonity to revisit the sentence light of the newly retroactive
guidelines.” Id. at 444. In doing so, tH&ixth Circuit stated:

Section 1B1.10 of the Sentencingi@alines does not mandate that
Amendment 750 be applied reactively, but it gives the
sentencing court the discretion to apply it. Because the issue was
raised on direct appeal and Amdment 750 was made retroactive
during the pendency of the s, we remand the case to the
district court to allow it in the first instance to consider whether, in
the exercise of its discretion, ethrevised and retroactive crack
cocaine guidelines should be cmesed in determining Jackson's
sentence.See United States v. Coohelyl F.3d 97, 101 (8th
Cir.1993).FN2 For purposes of juditiefficiency, we affirm but
remand to the district court fahe opportunity to consider the
retroactive crack cocaine guidelinesia spontewithout the
necessity of Jackson filing a motion pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8§
3582(c). We take no position as to whether any change in
Jackson's sentence is warrantdde to the retroactive crack
cocaine guidelines.



FN2: Ordinarily, a defendannust petition the district
court for modification osentence under Section 1B1.10.
Seel8 U.S.C. § 3582(c)(2). However, because Jackson
raised this sentencing issue on appeal and the
amendments were made retroactive during the pendency
of his direct appeal, we see no need to force him to take
this additional stepSee United States v. Wgl€&§7 F.2d
1323, 1328 n. 3 (9th Cir.1992).
Id. at 445-46. At the re-sentencing hearimgd on September 13022, this Court reduced
Petitioner’s sentence to a teoh126 months’ imprisonmentlJudgmen{ECF No. 96.) On May
5, 2014, however, the Sixth Circuit vacated thatesgce and again remanded the case, this time
directing this Court to reinstate the origirsentence of 150 months’ imprisonmentnited
States of America v. Jacksorbl F.3d 707 (B Cir. 2014), rehearingn bancdenied June 11,
2014)("Jackson I1). On October 6, 2014, the United SsitSupreme Court denied Petitioner’s
petition for a writ ofcertiorari. Jackson v. United States35 S.Ct. 273 (2014)(Mem.).
This Court re-imposed aipon term of 150 months’ imgonment on November 3, 2014.
Amended Judgme(ECF No. 113). Petitioner filedélmotion to vacate on March 30, 2015.
Petitioner alleges that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel because his
attorney failed to request a continuance & sentencing hearing until after the passage of the
Fair Sentencing Act (claim onednd that his two state courtudy convictions daot qualify,
underDescamps v. United States U.S. --, 133 S.Ct. 2276 (2013is predicate offenses for his
designation as a career offenddaifo two). Respondent contentsat Petitioner’s claims are
procedurally defaulted or without merit.
Standard of Review
To obtain relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2255, a de#nt must establish the denial of a

substantive right or defect in the trial thatnsonsistent with the rudientary demands of fair

procedureUnited States v. Timmreck41l U.S. 780 (1979)nited States v. Fergusp818 F.2d



627, 630 (6th Cir.1990)p€r curian). Relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 is available when a federal
sentence was imposed in violation of the Constitutr laws of the United States, when the trial
court lacked jurisdiction, or then the senteegeeeds the maximum sentence allowed by law or
is “otherwise subject to collateral attackJhited States v. Jalili925 F.2d 889, 893 (6th Cir.
1991). Apart from constitutional error, the ques is “whether the claimed error was a
‘fundamental defect which inherently resuitsa complete miseaage of justice,” "Davis V.
United States417 U.S. 333, 346 (1974)(quotitgjll v. United States368 U.S. 424, 428-429
(1962);see also Griffin v. United State330 F.3d 733, 736 (6th Cir. 2006). Nonconstitutional
claims not raised at trial or atirect appeal are waived for collateral review except where the
errors amount to something akin to a deniatloé process. Mistakes in the application of the
sentencing guidelines will rarely, if ever, wamt relief from the consequences of waiv@rant

v. United States/2 F.3d 503, 506 (6th Cir. 1996).

It is well-established that a motion to vaeander § 2255 “is not a substitute for a direct
appeal.”"Ray v.United States721 F.3d 758, 761 (6th Cir. 2018egalado v. United State334
F.3d 520, 528 (6th Cir. 2003) (citingnited States v. Fragy56 U.S. 152, 167—68 (1982)).
Accordingly, claims that could have been eaison direct appeal, but were not, will not be
entertained on a motion to vacate unless theiqmadit shows: (1) cause and actual prejudice
sufficient to excuse his failure to raise the clapmsviously; or (2) that he is “actually innocent”
of the crime.Ray, 721 F.3d at 761 (citin@ousley v. United State523 U.S. 614, 622 (1998)
(internal citations omitted)).

Claim One
In his first claim, Petitioner alleges that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel,

because his attorney failed to request a ooatice of his July 16, 2010, sentencing hearing.



Petitioner argues that his attey should have known thato@gress had scheduled the Fair
Sentencing Act for asote on July 28, 2010.Reply (ECF No. 124, PagelD# 493-94.) Had
counsel secured a continuance of the origsealtencing hearing, Petitioner contends, he would
have obtained a reduced sentence upon gasdahe Fair Sentencing Act.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant
the right to the effectivassistance of counselStrickland v. Washingtor66 U.S. 668, 686
(1984). To prevail on a claim ofeffective assistance of counsalpetitioner must demonstrate
both that counsel's performance was deficientthat counsel “made errors so serious that
counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed” by thie Simendment, and that this
deficient performance prejudiced the petition&t. at 687. This showing requires that defense
counsel's errors were so serious as to dephe defendant of aifaand reliable outcomed.

“SurmountingStrickland'shigh bar is never an easy taskadilla v. Kentucky599 U.S.
356, 371 (2010). Given the difficulties inherent in determining whether an attorney's
performance was constitutionallyeficient, “a court must indgé a strong presumption that
counsel's conduct falls within the wide range reasonable professional assistance. . . .”
Strickland 466 U.S. at 689. Nevertheless, “[a]n ertny counsel, even if professionally
unreasonable, does not warrant setting asideutiigiment of a criminal proceeding if the error
had no effect on the judgmentfd. at 691. Therefore, a petitionerust establish prejudice in
order to prevail on a claim afeffective assistance of counsetl. at 692.

In order to establish prejum®, a petitioner must demorets a reasonable probability
that, but for counsel's errors, the resulthef proceedings would have been differdt. at 694.
“A reasonable probability is a probability seiént to undermine confahce in the outcome.”

Id. Because a petitioner musatisfy both prongs oftrickland to demonstrate ineffective



assistance of counsel, should a court determingltagtetitioner has failed to satisfy one prong,
it need not consider the othdd. at 697.

As noted supra this Court granted an earlieequest by defense counsel for a
continuance of sentencingee Motion(ECF No. 72);0Order (ECF No. 73), and delayed
Petitioner’s original sentencing in anticipationtbé passage of the Fair Sentencing ASee
also Sentencing T(ECF No. 84, PagelD# 263). Therens reason to beke that another
request by counsel to further delay thateacing hearing would have been grantgde id.
(“[W]e waited and waited and waited to séeCongress would change the guidelines, or the
statutes, with regard to crack versus powderaoee. My information nowndicates that it's a
dead issue in Congress and thatnibt going to change, at leasth® foreseeable future. . . .").
See also United States v. McMahd@2 Fed.Appx. 523, 525 {6Cir. 2011)(A judge need not
await the outcome of amngoing political discussn, and did not abuse itlscretion in refusing
to grant a continuance of sentencing “even wipeasented with compelling arguments that the
political climate was shifting towards eliminag the unwarranted crack/powder 100:1 ratio.”).
Further, the record does notaslish that defense counsel abiiave predicted the passage of
the Fair Sentencing Act, or that hdeatunreasonably in failing to do so.

In any event, it does not appear that Retér would have secured a lower sentence, even
after the passage of the Fair Sentencing Aetahbse of his status as a career offender. In
reversing the District Court’s reduction of Petitioner’'s sentence to 126 months imprisonment, the
Sixth Circuit reasoned as follows:

A. Original Sentencing
In June 2009, Michael Jackson pleaded guilty to possessing, with
the intent to distribute, more thdive grams of cocaine base, in

violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1)At that time, this offense
carried a maximum penalty of 40 years of imprisonm&eie§



841(b)(1)(B) (2006). Because Jackson had two prior felony
controlled-substance convictions, gealified as a career offender
under U.S.S.G. 8§ 4Bl.1(a). The dist court determined that
Jackson's total offense level w28. But when “the offense level
for a career offender from [theareer-offender table] is greater
than the offense level otherwise applicable, the [career-offender]
offense level . . . shall apply.” 8 4B1.1(b). Under the career-
offender table, Jackson's statutory maximum of 40 years
corresponded to an offense level of 34.

Because Jackson's “offense level for a career offender from the
table” —i.e.,, 34 — was greater than “the offense level otherwise
applicable” —i.e., 29 — the career-offendeffense-level applied.
Ibid. Jackson's applicableareer-offense level, therefore, was 34.
His criminal-history category under the table was VI. The career-
offender table permits a reduatioof up to three levels for
acceptance of responsibility under § 3E1See § 4B1.1(b).
Jackson received this reductiasg his final offense level, under
the career-offender table, was Fn offense level of 31 and a
criminal-history category of VI resulted in a 8 5A sentencing range
of 188 to 235 months for Jackson. Nonetheless, in 2010, the
district court, because of the “crack versus powder cocaine
disparity issue,” exercised itssdretion to departlownward from

the 8 5A range and imposed a sentence of 150 months of
imprisonment.

Later that year, Congress passee Bair Sentencing Act, and the
United States Sentencing Conssion amended the crack-cocaine
guidelines.

B. Sentence Reduction

Jackson appealed his sentenceJagkson | a majority of this
panel found that Jackson, whoSe5A sentencing range derived
solely from the career-offender tablwas eligible for a sentence-
reduction hearing because of the change to the crack-cocaine
guidelines. The court “remand[ed]etitase to the district court to
allow it in the first instance to coider whether, in the exercise of

its discretion, the revised andin@active crack cocaine guidelines
should be considered in daténing Jackson's sentencéJhited
States v. Jacksor678 F.3d 442, 445 (6th Cir. 2012) (emphasis
added). The court took “no position as to whether any change in
Jackson's sentence is warrantdde to the retroactive crack
cocaine guidelines.id. at 446.Jackson lessentially decided that
Jackson was eligible forsentence-reduction hearing.



In September 2012, Jackson receiaeskentence-reduction hearing.
The district court “review[ed] thease all over again . . . using the
amended guidelines. . . .” The cbaoted that, were Jackson not a
career offender, his new offenxel would be 25 and his new 8§
5A sentencing range would be 84115 months. But in 2012, as in
2009, Jackson qualified as a careffender under § 4B1.1(a). At
the hearing, Jackson's “offense level for a career offender from the
table” — ie., 34 — was still greater “than the offense level
otherwise applicable” —+e., now 25. § 4B1.1(b). Consequently,
“the offense level from the [caneeffender] table . . . shall apply.”
Ibid. At the hearing, then, the district court correctly concluded
that Jackson's career-offender offe-level was 34. The district
court then made a three-levelduction under § 3E1.1 — which §
4B1.1(b) permits. Jackson's offense level of 31 and his criminal-
history category of VI again resatt in a 8 5A sentencing range of
188 to 235 months. As the district court told Jackson, “That
[career-offender] sentencing factburts you. That hurt you. That

is a sentence of 38 months more than | sentenced you to begin
with. On the minimum range.”

The district court accepted thaetbecision about whether Jackson
was eligible for resentencing und®B8582(c)(2) “has been dictated
to me.” The district court theooncluded that it could not reduce
Jackson's sentence below 150 monthagain imposed a sentence
of 150 months of imprisonment.

C. The “Hail Mary Pass”

Jackson's counsel then asked thstriit court to reconsider its
analysis if the Fair Sentencing Act's revised mandatory-minimum
penalties applied at the time aickson's original sentencing. The
court considered this argument to be a “Hail Mary pass.” Jackson's
counsel stated thatdirequest was not a “lalistic argument” but
simply a suggestion that the cowonsider what Jackson's § 5A
sentencing range would have betdackson had been sentenced
after the Fair Sentencing Act's effective date.

If the Fair Sentencing Act had been effective in 2009, Jackson's
maximum sentence would be 20 — not 40 — years of
imprisonmentSee8 841(b)(1)(C) (2012). Tik would give Jackson

a career-offender offense level of 32, under § 4B1.1(b). Jackson
would presumably again receitlee three-level § 3E1.1 reduction,
resulting in a final career-offender offense-level of 3@e ibid
Jackson would retain a criminhistory category of VI, which
corresponds to a § 5A sentencragge of 151 to 188 months. The
district court correctly conabed that, were Jackson to be



sentenced for the first time B012, his 8 5A range would be 151
to 188 months.

The district court, however, focused on the fact that if Jackson
were sentenced for the first time in 2012, his sentencing range
would be lower and Jackson would still have the same mitigating
factors that caused the court toemise its discretion to depart
downward from the 8 5A range at Jackson's initial sentencing.
“How can | be illogically logical?the court asked. It stated: “If
Mr. Jackson appeared before mdagp, he would be at a range of
151 to 188. If Mr. Jackson appeared before me today, he would
still have the good things thahhve already mentioned going for
him. . . .” Under these circwstances, the court contemplated
whether it could fairly re-impose a sentence of 150 months. It
asked the prosecutor: “How wouldexplain it to [Jackson] . . .
other than you don't think thathave the legal authority to do
so[?]” In light of this considetion, the district court reduced
Jackson's sentence to 126 months.

This sentence was lower tharethottom end of Jackson's § 5A
range —i.e., 188 months — at his original sentencing. It was also
lower than the bottom end of Jackson's actual amended § 5A
guideline range —+e., 188 months. And it waaso lower than the
bottom end of the hypothetical § Sange that Jackson would be
subject to, if he were origitlg sentenced today under the Fair
Sentencing Act's new mandatory-minimum regimei-e-, 151
months.

We review a district court's gence-reduction decision for abuse
of discretion.United States v. Washingtos84 F.3d 693, 695 (6th
Cir.2009) “[A] district court abuss its discretion when it. . .
improperly applies the law. . . Lbid.

This court earlier decided thaackson was eligible for a sentence-
reduction hearingJackson | 678 F.3d at 445-46. Subsection
1B.10(b)(2) of the Guidelines Maal imposes a hard limit on a
court's ability to reduce the sentenfor a defendant who has been
deemed eligible for a § 3582(2) sentence reduction.FN1 The
subsection's title — “Limitation and Prohibition on Extent of
Reduction” — reflects this. That @vision provides that “the court

shall not reduce the defendant'snteof imprisonment under 18

U.S.C. § 3582(c)(2) and this polisyatement to a term that is less

10



than the minimum of the amended guideline range.” Subsection
1B1.10(b)(2)'s limitation on a distti court's sentence-reduction
authority is absoluteDillon v. United States560 U.S. 817, 130
S.Ct. 2683, 2693, 177 L.Ed.2d 271 (2010).

Here, the district court — afterréit re-imposing a sentence of 150
months — reversed course and ultimately imposed a sentence of
126 months. Jackson's applicab@deline range was 188 to 235
months at his original sentence, and Jackson's amended guideline
range at the time of sentence reduction was 188 to 235 months.
Because the district court was prohibited from reducing Jackson's
sentence “to a term less than the minimum of the amended
guideline range” — i.e., 188 months — Jackson's reduced sentence
is improper. We, therefore, vacate Jackson's reduced sentence and
remand with instructions to redtate Jackson's prior sentence of
150 months.

It is true that the guideles are “now[ ] advisory.Jackson | 678

F.3d at 445. But § 1B1.10(b)(2)psohibition is not. The Supreme
Court has addressed this exactéand has declined “to excise the
mandatory language of § 1B1.10(b)(2) and treat that provision as
advisory.” Dillon, 130 S.Ct. at 2690 (Sotomayor, Jg¢cord
[United States JWashington 584 F.3d [693,] 701 [(6 Cir.
2009)]. Simply put, the districtourt is “constrained by the
Commission's statements dictating by what amount the sentence of
a prisoner serving a term of imprisonment affected by the
amendment may be reducedfllon, 130 S.Ct. at 2691 (internal
quotation marks omitted). Subsection 1B1.10(b)(2) “confines the
extent of the reduction authorizediid. Subsection 1B1.10(b)(2),
then, is not advisory.

vV

Because § 1B1.10(b)(2) prohibits a court from “reduc[ing] the
defendant's term of imprisonment . . . to a term that is less than the
minimum of the amended guideline range,” and because the
district court did just thatwe VACATE the district court's
sentence and REMAND with insttions to reinstate Jackson's
original sentence.

FN1: There is one exception, not relevant here, to this
hard limit. If a defendant ihally receives a sentence of
imprisonment lower than tharovided by the defendant's
applicable guideline rang@ursuant to a government
substantial-assistance nuoii under § 5K1.1, then “a

11



reduction comparably less ah the amended guideline
range . . . may be appropriate.” § 1B1.10(b)(2)(B).

Jackson 1) 751 F.3d at 708-12 (footnote omitted). Thexen applying the amended guidelines
applicable to crack cocaine offenses effecti@fter Petitioner’'s inil sentencing hearing,
Petitioner's recommended senting range under the advisokynited States Sentencing
Guidelines remained, because of his status eareer offender, 188-235 months’ incarceration,
and U.S.S.G. § 1B.10(b)(2) prohibited this Cdtoin further reducing Petitioner’s sentence.
Significantly, the Sixth Circuit observed thidite Fair Sentencing Act did not have the
effect of altering Petiioner’s sentence:
Even assuming Jackson were correct that the Fair Sentencing Act
applied retroactively or that it were effect in 2009 at the time of
Jackson's original sentencing, the outcome of this case would be
the same. In that circumstancegkl®on's 8 5A range would be 151
to 188 months. And even if Jackson's amended guideline range
were actually 151 to 188 month#)e district court “shall not
reduce [Jackson's] term of imprisonrhen. to a term that is less
than the minimum” end of that range +e., 151 months. The
district court's reduction ofagkson's sentence® 126 months
would still have been improper.

Id. at 712 n.2.

Therefore, this Court is not persuaded tRatitioner has established the denial of the
effective assistance aounsel under the two-prorgtricklandtest so as to warrant relief on
claim one.

Claim Two

In claim two, Petitioner alleges that he snanproperly sentenced as a career offender.

Specifically, Petitioner arguethat his August 2002 and 2003 convictions in the State of

Michigan on attempted delivery/manufacture of cocasee, Pre-sentence Investigation Report

1956, 57 (ECF No. 70), should not have been ueedualify as predicate offenses for his

12



designation as a career offender undrscamps,133 S.Ct. at 2276, because the term
“knowledge” or “knowingly” does notonstitute an element ofdlstate criminal conviction, as
required under the analogous federal ofics statute, 21 U.S.C. § 841{a)Petitioner argues
that his designation as a career offenitherefore violates 28 U.S.C. § 944(h){2)Petitioner
contends that the Court should have appli€tnadified categorical approach” to determine
whether his convictions qualifieds predicate convictions f@urposes of the career offender
classification. See Reply Petitioner also refers Barachuri-Rosendo v. Holdeg60 U.S. 563
(2010), andMoncrieffe v. Holder-- U.S. --, 133 S.Ct. 1678 (2013), in support of his claim that
his prior convictions do not qualify as predeadffenses for his classification as a career

offender. See ReplyECF No. 124.)

121 U.S.C. § 841(a) provides:

Except as authorized by this subchapter, it shall be unlawful for any person knowingly o
intentionally—

(1) to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, or
dispense, a controlled substance; or

(2) to create, distoute, or dispense, or possess with interdistribute or dispense, a counterfeit
substance.

228 U.S.C. § 944(h)(2) provides:
(h) The Commission shall assure that the guidelinesfgmesientence to a term of imprisonment at or near

the maximum term authorized for categories of defendants in which the defendant is eighteen years old or
older and—

-
(2) has previously been convicted of two or more prior felonies, each of which is—

(A) a crime of violence; or

(B) an offense described in section 401 of the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. 841), sectiahs 1002(

1005, and 1009 of the Controlled Substances Import and Export Act (21 U.S.C. 952(a)d%E®)aand
chapter 705 of title 46.

13



Petitioner has waived this claim for review by failing to raise it on direct appeal.
Moreover, Petitioner has failed to establish caus@iprocedural default in failing to raise this
claim on direct appeal.

Furthermore, and as notexlipra, errors related to the application of the Sentencing
Guidelines are not ordindy cognizable under § 225%rant, 72 F.3d at 506See alsdJnited
States v. Meirovitz688 F.3d 369, 372 (8th Cir. 2012).

To obtain relief under 8§ 2255 rfa nonconstitutional error,e.

error in calculating the applickb range under the Sentencing

Guidelines based on the career-offer classification in U.S.S.G.

8 4B1.1, [the petitioner] must ebtesh either: (1) a fundamental

defect in the criminal proceedingghich inherently resulted in a

complete miscarriage of justice; () an error so egregious that it

amounts to a violation of due proceBeed,512 U.S. at 353-54;

Hill, 368 U.S. at 428jones 178 F.3d at 796jVatson,165 F.3d at

488;Fair, 157 F.3d at 430Grant, 72 F.3d at 505-06.
Clark v. United State2012 WL 3991066, at *13 (E.D.Tenn. Sept. 11, 20$2f also Gibbs v.
United States655 F.3d 473, 478-79 'f6Cir. 2011)(actual innocen@xception does not permit
prisoners to raise claims abagtidelines calculations in a collad attack). Petitioner has
failed to establish that any miscalculation unither Sentencing Guidelines — even assuming that
a miscalculation occurred — warrants relief un8e2255. Even assuming that this claim is
properly raised in these proceedings under 8§ 2285Cturt concludes that the claim is without
merit.

The record reflects that, in August 20@2d 2003, Petitioner was convicted of the
attempted delivery/manufacture of cocaine undeC.L.A. § 333.7401, which provided at that
time in relevant part as follows:

(1) Except as authorized by igharticle, a person shall not
manufacture, create, deliver, @mossess with intent to manufacture,

create, or deliver a controlleditsstance, a prescription form, an
official prescription form, or acounterfeit prescription form. A

14



practitioner licensed by the adnstriator under this article shall
not dispense, prescribe, or admter a controlled substance for
other than legitimate and professally recognized therapeutic or
scientific purposes or outsidéhe scope of practice of the
practitioner, licensee, or applicant.

(2) A person who violates this section as to:

(a) A controlled substance classified schedule Jor 2 that is a
narcotic drug or a drug dedoed in section 7214(a)(iv) and:

*k%

(iv) Which is in anamount less than 50 ajns, of any mixture
containing that substance is ilipg of a felony and shall be
imprisoned for not less than kg nor more than 20 years, and
may be fined not more than $25,000.00, or placed on probation for
life.

See Pre-sentence Investigation RegBEF No. 70, 88 56, 57)(filed under seal.) The Supreme
Court of Michigan has he that, in order to establish afdadant’s guilt under ik statute, the
prosecution must show that the defendant “knowingly delivered or aided in the delivery of some
amount of cocaine,” so long as the jury alsedaletermines the quantity of drugs involved.
People v. Mass464 Mich. 615, 628 (2001)(emphasis addethus, and contrario Petitioner’'s
allegation here, scienter constitutessteament of the offense charged.
Further,neitherCarachuri-Rosendd;60 U.S. at 563, ndvloncrieffe 133 S.Ct. at 1678,

assist him. BotliCarachuri-RosendandMoncrieffeinvolved the application of the Immigration
and Nationality Act (“INA”).

Under the INA, a non-citizen is depable if he is convicted of an

“aggravated felony.” That term defined under the INA to include

“illicit trafficking in a controlled substance” and includes the

conviction of an offense that the C[ontrolled] S[ubstances] A[ct]

makes punishable as a felony, that is, an offense punishable under

federal law by more than one year's imprisonmiancrieffe 133

S.Ct. at 1683 (citations omitted). The petitioneMancrieffehad

previously pleaded guilty to a state-law marijuana charge that the
Supreme Court found did not quglis an aggravated felony
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under the INA because the state charge would not have been
punishable as a felony under federal law.

Neither case applies to the determinationvbiether Petitioner qualified as a career offender
under the provisions of the United States Sentencing GuidelBesPittman v. United States,
No. 3:14-cv-01064, 2014 WL 3735918,*& (M.D. Tenn. July 29, 2014Ferguson v. United
States 2014 WL 105022, at *1 (S.D. Ga. Jan. 9, 20Myncrieffesimply does not apply to a
“controlled substance offense” underetlsentencing guidelines.”)(citinghomas v. United
States Nos. 8:13-CV-215-T-15MAP, 8:07-CRA3-T-27MAP, 2013 WL 4855067, at *8 (M.D.
Fla. Sept. 11, 2013Davis v. United StatedNos. 8:13-CV-1431-BOTGW, 8:08-CR-413-T-
30TGW, 2013 WL 6670489, at *6 (M. Fla. Dec. 18, 2013)kxee alsoBlackmon v. United
StatesNo. 13 Civ. 6797(JSR)(KNF), 2014 WL 27036, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. June 10, 2014).

Unlike the INA, . . . a particulastate offense need not proscribe

conduct punishable as a felony under the [Controlled Substances

Act or “CSA”] to constitute a “ontrolled substance offense” under

the sentencing guidelineSeeU.S.S.G. § 4B1.2, cmt. n. kee

generally United States v. Newhouse— F.Supp.2d ——, 2013

WL 346432, at *11-13 (N.D. lowa Jan.30, 2013) (providing

overview of the career offendguidelines); Amy Baron—Evans et.

al., Deconstructing the Career Offender Guidelirg Charlotte

L.Rev 39, 53-56 (2010) (same).
Dumas v. United State®No. 06-20402, 2013 WL 1914329, at *4 (E.D. Mich. May 8, 2013).
“Thus reference to the CSA — including the psbans of § 841(b) — is not required under the
guidelines when the predicate offense is a state convictimh.{citing United States v. Pruitt,
545 F.3d 416, 423 (6th Cir. 2008)). “Unlike the INA, the career-offender provisions do not
require that a predicate drug affe qualify as a federal felonyBeard v. WilsonNo. 13-CV-
3613 (PJS/FLN), 2015 WL 627880, at *2 (D. Minn. Feb. 10, 2015).

Moreover, Petitioner has nestablished a violation of ¢hSupreme Court’s holding in

Descamps Descampsnvolved the application of the Armeziareer Criminal Act, 18 U.S.C. §
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924(e) (“ACCA")? which serves to increase the sen&nof certain federal defendants who
have three prior convictions “for a violent felohincluding “burglary, arson, or extortion.” The
Supreme Court iDescampsddressed the proper procedure to be followed when a federal court
considers whether a defendant's prior conviafjoalifies as “a violent feny” under the ACCA.

To determine whether a past conviction is for one of those crimes,
courts use what has become known as the “categorical approach”:
They compare the elements of the statute forming the basis of the
defendant's conviction with theeshents of the “generic” crime —
i.e., the offense as commonly derstood. The prior conviction
gualifies as an ACCA predicate gnif the statute's elements are
the same as, or narrower thémse of the generic offense.

18 U.S.C. § 924(e) provides:

(e)(2) In the case of a person who violates section 922(qg) of this title and has three previous
convictions by any court referred to in sectaff?(g)(1) of this title for a violent felony or a

serious drug offense, or bottgmmitted on occasions differenbfn one another, such person

shall be fined under this title and imprisoned not less than fifteen years, and, notwithstanding any
other provision of law, the court shall not suspend the sentence of, or grant a probationary
sentence to, such perseaith respect to the conuion under section 922(qg).

(2) As used in this subsection—
(A) the term “serious drug offense” means—

0] an offense under the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. 801 et seq.), the Controlled
Substances Import and Export Act (21 U.RE1 et seq.), or chapter 705 of title 46, for
which a maximum term of imprisonment of ten years or more is prescribed by law; or

(i) an offense under State law, involving manufacturing, distributing, or possessing with
intent to manufacture or distribute, a controlled substance (as defined in section 102 of
the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. 802)), for which a maximum term of
imprisonment of ten years or more is prescribed by law;

(B) the term “violent felony’means any crime punishable inyprisonment for a term exceeding
one year, or any act of juvenile delinquency involving the use or carrying of a firearm, knife, o
destructive device that would be punishable by imprisonment for such term if committed by an
adult, that—

0] has as an element the use, attempted usleremtened use of phgal force against the
person of another; or

(i) is burglary, arson, or extortion, involves use of explosives, or othemwslves conduct
that presents a serious potential risk of physical injury to another; and

(C) the term “conviction” includes a finding thafperson has committed an act of juvenile
delinquency involving a violent felony.
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We have previously approved arient of this method — labeled
(not very inventively) the “rodified categorical approach” —
when a prior conviction is for violating a so-called “divisible
statute.” That kind of statute seigt one or more elements of the
offense in the alternative — for example, stating that burglary
involves entry into a building or an automobile. If one alternative
(say, a building) matches an elerhanthe generic offense, but the
other (say, an automobile) doemt, the modified categorical
approach permits sentencing coutdsconsult a limited class of
documents, such as indictments any instructions, to determine
which alternative formed the basis of the defendant's prior
conviction. The court can then dehat the categorical approach
demands: compare the elements of the crime of conviction
(including the alternative element used in the case) with the
elements of the generic crime.

This case presents the question whether sentencing courts may also
consult those additional documents when a defendant was
convicted under an “indivisible” statute +e., one not containing
alternative elements — that criminalizes a broader swath of
conduct than the relevant genedffense. That would enable a
court to decide, based on infaation about a case's underlying
facts, that the defendant's priconviction qualifies as an ACCA
predicate even though tiedements of the crimfail to satisfy our
categorical test. Because thasuk would contravene our prior
decisions and the principleanderlying them, we hold that
sentencing courts may not apple tmodified categorical approach
when the crime of which the defendant was convicted has a single,
indivisible set of elements.

|d. at 2281-87.

This Court sentenced Petitioner as a camender under the Sentencing Guidelines
based on his two prior state court convictionsaibempted delivery/manufacture of cocaine, and
not under the ACCA based on prior violdalony convictions. Even assuming thddescamps

applies to the facts presented in this casiee record fails to esthsh a violation of the holding

* Descampéas not been applied retroactively to cases on collateral reieaHoskins v. Coakle3014 WL
245095, at *5{United States v. Patri¢iNos. 6:06-034-DCR, 6:14-7357-DCR, 2014 WL 2991857, at *2 (E.D. Ky.
July 2, 2014)(and caseged therein). Howevebhescampsvas decided on June 20, 201.8., prior to the Sixth
Circuit’'s May 5, 2014, order remanding the case to this Court wsthuictions to reinstate the original sentence.

> Other courts have concluded tiscampsioes not apply to the facts presented in this maere, e.g., United
States v. JoneBlo. 6:04cr70047-1, 2015 WL 1729785, at *2 (W.D. Va. April 15, 2M&3campsloes not apply
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in Descampswhich permits a modified categorical appro&ahbe used where the statute at issue
sets forth alternative elements upon which a conviction can be b&ee.United States v.
Colon, No. 09-0155, 2015 WL 127726, at *5 (E.D. Par.J3 2015). Petitioner does not allege,
and the record does not reflect, that theul€ improperly employed a modified categorical
approach.

In order to determine whether afeledant's prior conviction is a
“controlled substance offense” fpurposes of § 4B1.1, the Sixth
Circuit has adopted a “categorical’” approaSbe United States v.
Martin, 378 F.3d 578, 581 (6th Cir.200éd&mploying a categorical
approach to determine whether a particular offense constituted a
“crime of violence” under the Guidelined)nited States v. Butler

207 F.3d 839, 842-43 (6th Cir.2000) (employing a categorical
approach to determine whether a particular offense constituted a
“controlled substance offense” 6crime of violence” under the
Guidelines). Generally speaking, only the fact of the prior
conviction and the statutory definition of the predicate offense are
used to determine whether aiqor conviction is a controlled
substance offens8utler, 207 F.3d at 843%ee Martin 378 F.3d at

581. “Under this approach, it isot only impermissible, but
pointless, for the court to loothrough to the defendant's actual
criminal conduct. . . . Indeed, the categorical approach eliminates
the practical difficulties and pemtial unfairness of a factual
approach to each prior convictionButler, 207 F.3d at 843
(internal quotations and citatis omitted). If, however, “the
relevant statute of conviction doenot supply a clear answer to
[whether the defendant committed a controlled substance offense]
the sentencing court may consult thdictment and either the jury
instructions or plea agreement the specific conduct with which

the defendant was charged in order appropriately to characterize
the offense.’'Martin, 378 F.3d at 581.

United States v. Galloway39 F.3d 320, 322-23 {6Cir. 2006). See also United States V.
Montanez 442 F.3d 485, 489 {6Cir. 2006)(“If. . . the categorical approach fails to be
determinative, a sentencing court may look ® ‘tharging document, ten plea agreement,

transcript of plea colloquy, and any explicitctiaal finding by the triajudge to which the

where the petitioner is sentenced as a career offender under the United States Sentencing Guidelines, and not the
ACCA); Pittman,2014 WL 3735918, at *4 (same).
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defendant assented,’ . . . irder to determine whether the pricrime qualifies as a controlled
substance offense.”)(citinBheparg 125 S.Ct. at 125%Galloway, 439 F.3d at 323)SeeUnited
States v. Solomors92 Fed.Appx. 359 (5Cir. Nov. 14, 2014)(applying “modified categorical
approach” to conclude that the petitioner'soprstate marijuana corstion qualified as a
predicate offense for his classificat as a career offender).
Petitioner was sentenced as a career offendder U.S.S.G. 8§ 4B1.1, which provides in

relevant part:

(a) A defendant is a career offender if (1) the defendant was at

least eighteen years old at the time the defendant committed the

instant offense of conviction; (2he instant offense of conviction

is a felony that is either a crime of violence or a controlled

substance offense; and (3) thefeswlant has at least two prior

felony convictions of either a crime of violence or a controlled

substance offense.

(b) Except as provided in subsection (c), if the offense level for a

career offender from the table ingtsubsection is greater than the

offense level otherwise applicabtbe offense level from the table

in this subsection shall apply. @areer offender's criminal history

category in every case under thissection shall be Category VI.
“Controlled substance offense” idefined as a state or fedé offense, “punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, frahibits the manufacture, import, export,
distribution, or dispensing of@ntrolled substance {a counterfeit substae) or the possession
of a controlled substance (or aunterfeit substance) thi intent to manufaare, import, export,
distribute, or dispense.” USG. § 4B1.2(b). An attempt ttommit a controlled substance
offense also falls within this categorySee United States v. Solom&92 Fed.Appx. at 359

(attempted possession of marijuana with intendeliver constitutequalifying prior conviction

within meaning of § 4B1.2(b)).
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Petitioner does not dispute that he wadeast eighteen yearsdolat the time of the
commission of the prior offenses at issue or thatoffenses of convictiocarried a penalty of a
term of imprisonment exceeding one year. He does not dispute that his two prior state
convictions were for the attergul delivery/manufacture of coo&. They therefore plainly
qualify as “controlled substance offenses,” establishing Petitioner’s status as a career offender,
and the Court had no need to consult arfyeotdocuments to make this determinatiGee
McClaim v. United State$jos. 4:13-cv-02394-RBH; 42-cr-00058-RBH-1, 2014 WL 6666595,
at *3 (D. South Carolina Nov. 24, 2014)(wherenma squarely falls within the definition of
“controlled substance offense” of U.S.S.G. § 4B1.2(b), prior conviction properly counted as
predicate controlled substanceneiction for sentencing purposesge alsoColon 2015 WL
127726, at *5 (same). Moreover, nothing in tleeard supports Petitioner’'s allegation that
application of a modified categoal approach would have eslished that his prior convictions
did not constitute controlled substance offenses within the ambit of U.S.S.G. 8§ 4B1.2. To the
contrary, thePre-sentence Investigation Repondicates that, inJuly 2002, Petitioner was
arrested after police observed him making &coiics transaction, and found 2.2 grams of
cocaine and 1.2 grams of marijuarahis person. Iduly 2003, when respondj to the call of a
woman being stabbed, police observed Petitidthesw into a vacant lot a package found to

contain twelve small bags of crack cocaif¥e-sentence Investigation Rep88 56, 57.

Under all these circumstances, the Court cateduhat claim two is without merit.
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Disposition
Therefore, théotion to Vacate under 28.S.C. 2255ECF No. 115) i®ISMISSED.
Petitioner’s request for avidentiary hearing iBENIED.

The Clerk iDIRECTED to entefFINAL JUDGMENT.

/s GREGORY L.FROST
QREGORY L. FROST
Lhited States District Judge
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